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COVER: TILES FROM THORNBURY CASTLE

These tiles depict the arms and badges of the builder of Thornbury Castle, Edward Stafford, 3rd Duke of Buckingham, Earl of
Hereford, Stafford and Northampton, K G, born 1477, beheaded on 7th May 1521 and attainted.

The central shield of arms is that of ‘England in a bordure argent.” England is represented by the three fleur-de-lys of France
{modern) quartering the three lions passant of England - these arms were first used by Henry IV in 1405. The charge of the silver
border is significant as it indicates a cadet branch of the Royal Family. These arms were granted to Edward’s father, Henry
Stafford the 2nd Duke, in recognition of his claim to be the heir of Thomas of Woodstock, Duke of Gloucester, Earl of
Buckingham and youngest son of Edward III. Henry Stafford’s great grandfather, Edmund the 6th Baron and 5th Earl of
Stafford, had married Lady Anne Plantagenet the daughter and ultimate heiress of Thomas of Woodstock and his wife Eleanor
de Bohun, The shield is supported by two antelopes or white harts and is surrounded by the Garter - the 3rd Duke was created
a Knight of the Garter in 1495, Note St George and the Dragon at the end of the strap.

In the corners of the design are four badges used by the 3rd Duke. The Stafford knot appears in the top left corner and in the
top right is the flaming axle of Woodstock, a badge of Thomas, Duke of Gloucester, In the bottom left is the cloak or mantle'of
Brecknock - Stafford was also Lord of Brecon by distant descent from the Norman knight Bernard de Neufmarche, Finally, to
the bottom right are two roses and a swan. The roses are probably the red roses of the House of Lancaster - the family was, on
the whole, pro-Lancastrfan during the War of the Roses, The white swan, which is chained or gorged, is the ancient symbol of
the house of Bohun and also adopted as a royal badge by Henry IV in right of his wife, Mary one of the heiresses of Sir Humphrey
de Bohun, Earl of Hereford, Essex and Northampton. The Bohun estates were granted to the 2nd Duke as a reward for his
assistance to the Yorkist king, Richard III and probably in recognition of his claim to be the Bohun heir - Eleanor de Bohun,
Thomas of Woodstock’s wife, was the eldest daughter of Sir Humphrey,-J S E
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Fig 8  Scattergram: Western Trench, Hundred Acres

Fig 7  Flints from Western 'Trench, Hundred Acres
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tools do show a markea preference for the larger squarer flakes,
The lack of clustering could be the-result of a number of
factors, such as tools taken away from the area, or multi-
period activity in the area resulting in differing tool require- .
ments and thus differing shape ratios, The tools themselves are
predominantly end scrapers (Fig 7) and are of little help in
dating the assemblage, Other tools of interest are the above-
mentioned transverse arrowhead, which is made of Portland
chert; a heavily burnt fabricator and a fine example of a

blade used as a knife, .

. A group B2 core accoring to Clark’s classification (Clark,
1960), along with four rejuvenation flakes clearly indicate that
knapping occurred on site, but the small number of primary-
flakes suggest the flint might not have been in its raw
nodular form,

Pottery from Western Trench,
Hundred Acres
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Fig4  Bronze and Metal objects
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30 Alead casting in two parts with a central design of

double handled urn with Dolphins either side. The casting
tongue is still in position and it is probably a trial casting

of a mould used in the manufacture of decorative items

such as ‘Patera’ handles. Many similar castings were found

on the site,

COINS
Most of the coins collected from the site were examined by

David Dawson at Bristol Museum, where a detailed list is filed.

2nd Century. (3)

138 - 161 Faustina Junior 1
196 - 211 Julia Domna ’ 1
2C type Unidentified 1
3rd Century. (33)
244 . 249 Phillip I 2
270 Claudious II (Post ) 1
268-270  Victoriarus 1
287-293 Carausius 8
203-296 . Allectus 7
3C Radiates and copies 14
4th Century. (27) .
307 - 337 Constantine the Great 11
308 - 324 Lucinius I
324 -326 Constantian 2
326 Helina 1
332-333 Constantious II 3
337-350 Constans 1
¢ 350 Constantian (Fel Temp)5
4C copy 1
367-375 Gratian 1
Total identified 63
Illegible coins 37

GRAND TOTAL 106

The finding of 6 cast forgeries together near feature 18 and the

large quantity. of cut coins found might indicate that counter-

o1 |

Fig6  Miscellaneous objects (half size)

v

teiting was carried on in the settlement but this was not
confirmed, The 2nd and 3rd Century coins were well used
whereas the latest coin, that of the Emperor Gratian, was in

very good condition, This coin was a silver silique (R I C 27 (1))
which was minted between 24 August 376 and 17 November
385. The coin hoard found in 1869 had a date range of

¢ AD 50 to 310. The significance of the coin dating is discussed
later.

MISCELLANEOUS FINDS (Fig 6)
1.  Abone toggle slider of horse bridle cheek piece with a
" rectangular slot, worn smooth and decorated with an
incised lattice pattern. c/f Mere Lake Village (1C A D) and
in a military context from forts at Richborough (pre-
AD 85), Cirencester (AD 80 - 100) and Bar Hill, Antonine °
Wall (AD 140 - 180), Feature 6.

2. Part of the base of a blue/green moulded square glass bottle
with apattern square-and two concentric circles. Common
on sites AD 70-130 but continuing in use late in the 2C,

3.  Utilised flint flake, steeply retouched at distal end and with
fine denticulation along both edges. Feature 15.

Also found but not illustrated: Bronze tweezers, spoon bowl,
small conical boss, a stud and leg of small figurine, pieces of
sheet lead and spindle whorls, varied selection of animal
bones,

QUERNS AND STONE OBIJECTS (Fig 7)

A sample from the water trough (Fig. 2.5) was compared by
thin section with a control from Dundry Quarries. Although
there were slight differences, these could be as a result of local
variation and the oolitic limestone outcrops at Dundry are the
likely source. Most of the stone objects were thin sectioned and
examined by Caroline J Ingle of Bristol University, who kindly
gave lies_permission for this summary to be extracted from her
undergraduate dissertation (1982). Her general conclusion on
the querns from Filwood Park was that four different sand-
stones had been used , and although there are a number of sources
in the region, it would be likely that the nearest outcrops, all
within a radius of Skm of the site, would have been utilised.
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circumstances of its discovery illustrate the ease with which
such evidence can disappear if the opportunities for obser-
vation offered by new development are not fully exploited.
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Fig 3 = Roman Settlement and burials in north west Bristol

GAZETTEER OF ROMAN AND SUB-ROMAN
BURIJALS IN NORTH WEST BRISTOL

(1) NAZARETH HOUSE, SEA MILLS, ST 55227557.
Tombstone with crudely incised inscription SPES C SENTIL...
and female portrait bust, found 1873 (AJ 31, 41-6). Cremations,
9, excavated 1972; grave goods comprised pottery vessels, iron
nails and a bronze bracelet (AR 7,29).

(2) NAZARETH HOUSE, SEA MILLS, ST 55317576.
Inhumations, 3, excavated 1972; all extended, two lying in
former quarry pits and the third in a shallow grave. Of the
former, one was an adult, face down with an iron object in the
mouth, and with hobnail boots; the second was a young girl,
with head placed on pelvis. The third was also an adult, face
down with an iron object in the mouth (AR 7, 29).

' (3a) HADRIAN CLOSE, SEA MILLS, ST550758. Inhumations,
3, excavated 1946, within area of Roman settlement. Two were

flexed,aligned N.E. - SW and N -S respectively while a third
was extended in a wooden coffin, aligned ENE -SSW
(TBGAS 66,271-77).

'(3b) SEA MILLS LANE, SEA MILLS, ST55037589. Inhuma-

tions, 3, excavated 1967, within area of Roman settlement. One

was male, face downwards; second was female, in a wooden coffin,

with hobnailed boots; third was an infant, Both adult burials were
aligned E - W with heads to the east. (AR2, 14; additional
information from Mr. J. Constant).

(4) GROVE ROAD/PITCHCOMBE GARDENS, COOMBE
DINGLE, ST55687748. Stone coffin with rounded ends found
1972; inhumation accompanied by pottery flagon (BEP 28.7.72).
(5) WEST TOWN ROAD, AVONMOUTH, ST52457735. Stone coffin
found 1948; inhumation with hobnailed boots (BEP 5.3.48,

WDP 9.3.48).

(6) VILLA, KINGSWESTON, ST53397755. Male inhumation
excavated 1948-9, Skull showed evidence of sword cuts, and

body had been deposited in a collapsed hypocaust of Room 11,
after abandonment of the building in the late 4th., century, A second
fragmentary inhumation was noted east of the building

(TBGAS 49, 18, 57).

(7) KINGSWESTON HILL, ST54937783. Inhumations, 10+,
excavated 1966, All were extended and aligned E -W , with heads
to the west, (PUBSS 13, 41-8).

(8) BLAISE CASTLE HILL, ST55887838. Cemetery of extended
inhumations in rock-cut graves, mostly aligned east/west with
heads to the west, Inhumations, 10+, excavated 1918; associated
with a rectangular building, variously interpreted as 2a Roman
temple or Medieval chapet (TBGAS 41, 166-8). A further
inhumation with a 4th century coin beneath the skull excavated
1957 (PUBSS 8, 147-171). Inhumations, 3, excavated below south
east turret of Blaise Castle 1982 (information from Mr. M Baker).
(9) HENBURY AWDELETT (HENBURY MANOR HOUSE
SCHOOL), ST564788. Undated inhumation found 1898 in the
garden of a house; reburied in Henbury churchyard next to the
east boundary wall, Other undated inhumations, in “rough piles”,
allegedly found during road-widening “below-house” (Henbury

W I Guide to Henbury, 22). |
(10) HENBURY SCHOOL PLAYING FIELD ST56227907.
Inhumations, 6, excavated 1982; subject of present report.

ABBREVIATIONS

AJ — Archaeological Journal

AR ~ Archaeological Review (C.B.A. Groups 12 and 13)
BEP  — Bristol Evening Post '

PUBSS — Proceedings, University of Bristol Speleological Society
TBGAS — Transactions, Bristol & Gloucester Archaeological Society
WDP  — Western Daily Press
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This probably continues the boundary north,

7. From the hall north straight in to the river Lox.

The modern boundary follows a massive hedge and bank
straight down to a stream which must clearly be the river

Lox. This Celtic stream name occurs at Loxton near Weston-
Super-Mare, and at Locksbrook in Weston near Bath,

8. Up the stream to the west side of Leofman’s wood.

Here the charter boundary diverges from the modern
boundary, It seems likely that the modern "Lammas Field
Farm in Camerton Parish ST6800 5981 is the site of
‘Leominanes graf",

9. Then north along the old ditch to Redford.

For part of the way this boundary must follow the present road
and then strikes north to the next river, passing Priest Barrow
in the way. The ford, which appears in the Marksbury

charter BCS 709 as radanford is marked by the field name

of Redfield (T111) and may be the ‘Radeforlang’(of ¢ 1200).13
The boundary itself here as well as further north is marked by
a substantial hedge and bank, which in places is followed by, a
lane with a hard surface, This boundary runs from the Timsbury
area northwards as the boundaries of Priston and into Stanton
Prior and may then run through Stanton Prior and Corston and
then as lanes and boundaries north to Saltford. The ‘old dyke’
may therefore be an ancient road.

10. From Redford to the street, _

The boundary continues from Redford as a bank and then a
green lane until it meets the road from Marksbury to Newton
St. Loe. (10a).

11. Along the street up to Wynnmann’s hill on the west side,
The road immediately climbs the west side of Wilmington Hill.
12. East along the main road to AElfsige’s stone,

AEfsige’ stone has gone and it is not possible to be sure that the
current point at which the boundary leaves the road is the same
as the charter.

13, From the stone once more down to the ford.

The boundary takes us back down to the river,

CORSTON (BCS 767) -
Bath Abbey Chartulary. Corpus Christi Coll Ms111 (XII cent)

pp 65-6 Finberg 443 AD941

Pis syndon baland gemmro be hyrap to' corsantune.
Zrest on corsan stream up obbone ealdan stan weall
sup obba hyrnan. bon on west rihte'op cilda stan.
of cilda on merces burh nortwearde. bonne west on
8a burh opba west hyrnan. Ponne nor® on herepa$
obbone an lipi gan born. west bonan on bone hyrcg.
pPaet on pone anlipian stan. bonan nor¥ rihte on
mere mede westewearde. bPonan rihte on bone herepa$
o8 wifeles cumbes heafod. bPonne of wifeles cumbes -
su® ecge on mscwylle. Dbonan su$ on ecge obbaet
niegste slad, bonne of bam slede on stan wealles
broc of due on afene. up on afene ob corsan.

These are the land bounds that pertain to Corston, First to
the course of the Cors ! brook up to the old stone wall. South
to the corner, Thence due west as far as the heirs’ stone, From'
the heirs’ stone to Marksbury on the north side. Then west on
the fort as far as the west corner. Then north to the main road as

far as the solitary thorn tree, Thence west to the ridge, From there

to the solitary stone, Thence north straight to the north side of
boundary meadow. TlLence straight to the main road as far as
the head of beetle’s combe, Then from beetle’s combe’s south
edge to ashwell, Thence south on the edge as far as the nearest
valley, Then from the valley to stonewall’s brook. From the
down to the Avon, Up the Avon as far as the Cors' brook.

1 See note on Stanton Prior

THE BOUNDS

1. First to ‘Corse brook. )

The boundary begins at the point where Corston brook runs into
the river Avon. There is no reason to expect this to have moved.
The boundary runs south-westward up the brook,

2. To the far southern corner of the old stone wall.

The old stone wall may well have followed the line of the present
boundary round the southern edge of Tithe No 339, Bullham
and Tithe No 340 South Cleeve. This feature is common to all
three charters, The rather awkward wording suggests more than
one corner to the wall, in which case the most westerly would

be the one intended.

3. Then straight on westward as far as the Children’s stone,
Evidence of the stone in question is lacking, The modern boundary
runs nearly directly across open ground which was at one time
open field for both Corston and Stanton Prior. Modern short right’
angle turns in the boundary can be explained as medieval or
early modern deviations around acres and furlongs. The antiquity
of the boundary is suggested by the tithe map field no 366
‘Lower Holly Pits’ which appears as “Horry Pitts’ in a survey
1530 (DD/BR/Cr) i.e. the more common field name ‘harepits’.
This is probably either ‘Tubbish pits’ from horu “filth’ or boundary
pits from har ‘grey’, a description often applied to boundary
marks, A pit as a boundary mark was common,

4, From the heirs?’ stone to the north side of the boundary
camp.

The boundary runs along the northern side of Stantonbury Hill
which is the boundary camp.

5. Then west to the camp’s west corner.

The boundary runs to the northwest corner of the foot of the hill.
There is no reason to suppose that the boundary actually ran
across the top of the hill. However, the central importance of
the hill is shown by the fact that the men of Corston still had
commoning rights on the hill in the early 16th century, 1530
(DD/BR/Cr/c 1402).16

6. Then north to the main road as far as the solitary thorn

tree,

The boundary now turns north-north-west to the road from
Marksbury to Bath. The solitary thorn may have stood by the
road here,

7. Then west to the ridge.

The modern boundary then runs back along the road to the
junction of the road to Keynsham, This could be the ridge.

8. Then to the solitary stone.

This may have stood where the modern boundary turns north-
north-east.

9. Then north straight to the west side of the boundary meadow,
Tithe Nos. 257 and 258 are ‘Mere Meads’, almost certainly the
Mare Meads of DD/BR/Cr/c 1402 153017 and the maere maede
of the charter. The modern boundary now reaches this general
area by a series of right angle turns, The charter boundary may
well have run much more directly to a point near the road at
Corston Farm,

10. Then straight on the main road as far as the top of Wifela’s
combe’s head.
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First into the stream of the River Cors. Up to the old stone
wall. South to the corner, Thence straight up to the heir’s stone.
From the heir’s stone to the north side of the boundary fort. Then
west by the fort as far as the west corner, Then north on the main
road as far as the solitary thorn tree., Thence west to the ridge
thence to the solitary stone, Then due northlto the boundary
meadow on the west side, Then straight on the main road as far
as the top of beetle’s combe. Then from the south edge (of the
combe) to Ash well as far as the nearest valley. Then to Stone
well’s brook down to the Avon. Up the Avon as far as Cors Bank,

This charter does not warrant a further description of the
bounds since they are identical to those given for BC S 767,
except for some abbreviation of the boundary marks towards
the end of the charter.

The major question therefore, is whether one charter is
simply a copy of the other. Slnce the two charters are separated
by a charter (B C S 957) which is considerably different in the
description of the bounds and names given, it is clear that
either BC S 767 or B C S 1287 is not authentic. It is hardly
conceivable that the boundary mark ‘Wifeles cumb’ could change
to brynescumb and change back to wifeles cumb, or that
boundary marks such as cilda stan could disappear and reappear.

On balance,it seems likely that B C S 1287 of AD 972 is the
original from which B C S 767 was taken, The slightly fuller
nature of the boundary in the early version could simply be due
to better copying from an original. This would leave B C'S 957
as the earliest description of the bounds, with an area of land
later in Burnett included, while the later version of 972 finally
laid down the bounds close to those seen today.

STANTON PRIOR (BCS 10019)
Bath Abbey Chartulary Corpus Christi Coll Ms 111 (XII cent).
p 81-2, Finberg 487, AD 963
pis synt ba land gemera to stantune.
wynlmed dune west heafod b on ba ealdan dic. P

upp on wineces burug. ban on bere byrig bweofer
bon for® a be wurtruman b on wodnes

Erest on

bane sceagan.
dic. bone of wodnes dic on ba byrug nortwearde

andlang gemmres b innan corsan. bon upp andlang

broces on b swelgend. Pon su8 andlang broces. ‘b

on ba dic. P andlanges dic on bane ba® herpas. P
west andlang herpates b eft on wulmmddune west
heafod. bonne is binnan bam tyn hydun =lfsiges

pridde healfe hide.

These are the land bounds of Stanton. First to the west head
of the pasture-meadow hill, Then to the old ditch. Then up to
Wineca’s fort. Then from the fort across the woodland, Then
along by the tree root, Then to Wansdyke, Then from
Wansdyke to the north side of the fort. Along the boundary to
the Cors brookl, Then along the brook to the deep pool. Then
south along the brook Then to the ditch. Then along the ditch
to the main road. Then once more to the west end of pasture-
meadow hill,

There is within the ten hides AElfsiges one and a half hldes
1. The modern Corston brook. A Welsh river name meaning ‘a
rushy place’,

THE BOUNDS

1. First to the west head of wynlmad hill.

This is at a point just above Tithe Nos. 1 & 2 on the Stanton map.
2. Then to the old ditch.

The boundary may have followed a more or less straight line from
the top of the hill to the top of Winsbury. hill,

3. So up to Wineca’s Camp.

The major puzzle is that both charters give burk and byrig - “A
fortified place”, when they actually seem to be describing a burial
mound, or hill,

4, Then from the camp across the woodland.

This suggests that the whole area between Winsbury Hill and
Stantonbury was then wooded,

5. Then along by the contour then to Wansdyke.

This is exactly what the Stanton Prior parish boundary did.

6. Then from Wansdyke to the north side of the camp.

At this point the modern boundary crosses Wansdyke and makes a
dog-leg before returning to the bottom of the hill on which
Stantonbury camp stands.

7. Along the boundary to Cors brook.

The term gemaere used here is very much what one would expect
to describe a defined boundary across open ground, The fields
here in Stanton, Tithe Nos 115 and 116 called relands might
preserve the name ‘gemere’ lands,

8. Then up along the brook to the deep pool.

The present boundary turns up the brook and the small divergences
may be no more than diversions of the stream,

9. Then to the ditch,

Whether or not the present boundary follows a ditch is not clear,
Certainly the diversion around Tithe No 108 seems unlikely.

10, Then once more to the west end of Wynlmzd hill,

STANTON PRIOR (BCS 1164)
Bath Abbey Chartulary Corpus Christi Coll. Ms 111 (XII cent)
p 82-4, Finberg 491, AD 965

Erest #t wi¥ig mede on bone weg of hit stica® on’
tere ealdan stan bricge. Sy®Ban beon heafdan od
wvinces burch on #%a ealdan dic., of #mre dic on
edbyrhting leage. of Sere leage be wyrt walan
o8 wodnesdic. of #ere dic ber upp on bone wudu
otSone ealdan weg. Andlang wmges. on ealdan leage.
of tmre leage on cilda stan. of bam stane andlang
on bem weall to

be corsan andlang

hricges on bone ealdan weall.

steorte, _Panon on corsan.

streames on bone sweliend. of bam sweliende andlang

broces on %a ealdan dic., of %ere dic. on Sone

ealdan herepat. Andlang herepates on wymmedune

west heafdes. bmt eft on wisig mede.

First at withymead to the road as far as it runs to the old stone
bridge. Afterwards by the head as far as Winec’s fort into the old
ditch. From the ditch to Edbyrht’s clearing. From the clearing
by the tree roots as far as Wansdyke., From the ditch up into
the wood as far as the old road. Along the road, To old clearing.
From the clearing to the heir’s stone, From the stone along the
ridge to the old wall. From the wall to the projecting piece of
ground, To the Cors'1 brook. Along the current of the Cors
to the deep pool. From the deep pool along the brook to the
old ditch, From the ditch to the old main road to the west head
of Wynnmann’s hill. Then once more to withy mead.
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caught locally, including the marine fish, all of which are

found around the south-west coast of Britain, Three species of
freshwater fish have been identified, eel, pike and dace. The dace

is interesting as it is unlikely to have been fished for food

(perhaps for sport), It inhabits clean rivers and lakes and it may
not have been caught in the River Avon. Evidence for changes

in the culinary habits compared with the present can be seen in

the larger suite of food animals eaten, e.g. ling, formerly a common
food fish, and birds such as skylark.

The domestic animals not primarily exploited for food are
here represented by dog, cat and ferret. Of these, somé# of the
dogs and cats may have been semi-feral, That a cat’s life was
not particularly long on average, is indicated by the high
number of bones of young individuals.

The largest component of the bone assemblage compnses
the main food domesticates: cattle, sheep and pig, together
with domestic fowl and goose. In the case of the large mammals
the type of bone refuse can be related to different types of
activity, The proximity of the site to a rural, agricultural
environment is shown by the bones of a foetal sheep. The
animal was probably stillborn and the carcase dumped on a
rubbish heap. Poleaxed skulls of cattle and bones of the lower,
leg (ankle bones and toes) relate to primary butchery and are-
probably butchers’ refuse, Industrial processes are indicated by
the presence of horn cores which have been chopped or sawn
off from the skull. This could relate to horn-working or tanning,

Besides the industrial and workshop refuse there is a large
amount of domestic rubbish. Bones from this category are meat
bearing, such as upper limbs and ribs. Analysis of the butchery
cuts left on these bones will provide information on techniques
of butchery and the jointing of carcases. For example, there is
a difference between the methods of butchery used on cattle
and sheep skulls, Cattle have a circular hole battered through
the frontal bones of the skull, while the skulls of sheep were
split axially in two, Evidence for the sex ratios of the domesti-
cates is also being elucidated. In the'case of sheep, based on the
sexing of individuals from pelves and metacarpals, 14.3% are
whole males, 35.7% are castrates and 50% females. Further work
on the age structures of the populations will indicate whether .
the animals were reared mainly for meat or whether other
factors were important, e.g. wool and milk, The recovery of
two pelves from two probably castrated goats indicates that they
were being kept for meat. The pig bones show a normal pattern
of meat production since most are young individuals. The high
percentages of immature fowl bones indicate that they were
reared mainly for meat rather than as egg-layers.

Such detailed study of the domestic and industrial refuse in
medieval Bristol can amply illustrate the changes in wealth,
economy and lifestyle of its inhabitants, While only a slight
impression has so far been gained into the wealth of environ-
mental material present on a site such as this, it has become
apparent that here is an opportunity to study the evolution and
management of a landscape, not only in terms of its structures,
but also its associated flora and fauna.

TABLE 1. FAUNAL REMAINS: SPECIES

Mammal Bird Fish

Cattle Fowl Eel

Horse ~ "~ Goose Pike

Pig Duck Dace
Sheep/Goat Mallard Conger Eel
Cat Partridge Cod

Dog Woodcock Hake

Mammal Bird
Ferret Teal
Hare Gull
Rabbit Raven
Red Deer Skylark
Roe Deer Starling
Rat

Small mammal

(including shrew)

Amphibian

Frog?

TABLE 2. PLANT REMAINS

Fish

Mackerel
Roker
Haddock

Ling _
Plaice/Flatfish

No present Possible origin

Caltha palustris (marsh marigold) 5
Ranunculus acris/repens/bulbosus

(buttercup) 19
Ranunculus sardous (hairy

buttercup) 1
Ranunculus flammula (lesser

spearwort) 1

Brassica sp (eg Cabbage,cole,rape) 1+13F

Papaver argemone (prickly poppy) 6
Reseda luteola (weld) 886
Potentilla erecta (tormentil) 11
Agrostemma githago (corncockle) 4F
Chenopodium album (fat hen) 1

Chenopodium sp 1
Atriplex sp (orache) 9
Arenaria leptoclados (slender
sandwort) 4
Linum usijtatissimum(common flax)1
Foeniculum vulgare (fennel) 1
Daucus carota (wild carrot) 1

Polygonum aviculare (knotgrass) 2
Polygonum convolvulus (black

bindweed) 1
Rumex conglomeratus (clustered

dock) 14
Rumex sp 15

Solanum nigum (black nightshade) 1

Plantago major(greater plantain) 51

Prunella vulgaris (self-heal) 18

Anthemis cotula (stinking
camomile)

Chrysanthemum segetum (corn
marigold)

Centaurea cyanus (cornflower) 8

-Serratula tinctoria, cf|(saw-wort) -

Lapsana commums (nipplewort) 1

Leontodon sp (hawkbit) 8

Eleocharis palustris/uniglumis 31
(spike rush)

Juncus sp (rush family) 18+1F

Carex c f panicea (carnation grass) 1
Carex c f divisa (salt :

meadow sedge)
Carex c f disticha (creeping

brown sedge) 5
Carex c f divulsa (grey sedge) 3
Carex sp 5
Gramineae (grasses, various) 213
Cerealia (e g wheat, rye, barley) 13
F = fragments

Wet places
Meadows
Grassy Places

Damp ground,

? Cultivated/weed
Arable fields

? Cultivated for dye
Grassy places
Comfield weed
Weed

Weed

Disturbed ground

Dry soil/walls
Cultivated
Cultivated
Grassy Places

“Weed

Weed

Waste places

Waste places

Weed

Waste places

Grassy places

13+18F Cornfield weed

39+41F Cornfield weed

Cornfield weed
? Cultivated
Grassland,weed
Grassland

Wet places

Wet places

Damp pastures
Meadows nr sea &
estuaries

Wet meadows
Woods & hedges
Various
Various-
Cultivated
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jetted, timber-framed structures and seem to be of 16th or 17th
century date, They were all demolished in 1875-7 in the

course of widening Redcliff Street. A new range of buildings
had replaced them by 1880.

THE EXCAVATION

PERIOD 1 ¢ 1200 - 1500

The earliest structures investigated dated to the latter half of the
12th century, or early 13th century. The whole area was
probably laid out in a single operation, with property boundaries
fixed at this period and remaining more or less constant until the
20th century. Only a small proportion of the area investigated
was built up and there were initially large open Elots which

were only later developed.

At the northern end of the site part of a late 12th or early
13th century stone-founded building was excavated (structure
1). It consisted of a street range and a much larger rear range.
Within the street range was a hearth or oven of thick Pennant
sandstone slabs set vertically, Its'size suggests that it may have
had an industrial rather than domestic function. Possibly,
therefore, Structure 1 housed a workshop on the street
frontage with living quarters to the rear and above, In the
neighbouring plot to the south a similar hearth was found. It
was probably contemporary. with that in Structure 1, but was

_not enclosed within any building.

To the south, occupying the central part of the 51te came
abundant evidence for iron working; large quantities of jron’
slag were recovered, associated with features which clearly
had an industrial function, The earliest indication of a structure
here was a narrow trench which would have accommodated a
wooden sill beam, with vertical posts set into it, There were
slight indications of a corresponding line of posts to the south,
It is extremely unlikely that they supported a building, and
they may have served as boundary fences to denote the area
of the tenement prior to building work. Between the two
fences, a compact layer of orange sand was deposited, which
acted as a‘platform’for the iron workings which followed.

Succeeding the boundary fences was a sequence of timber
buildings, within which the iron working was carried out, The
north wall of these workshops was set on a rough stone base.
The south side may have been open,facing on to a side passage
leading from Redcliff Street, Within one of the earliest work-
shops was a large rectangular feature, possibly a forge or
furnace. The underlying orange sand had been scorched a deep
red colour and there were widespread deposits of charcoal and
ash in the area, This feature was enclosed on two sides by
wooden partitions, In a neighbouring room were several shallow
pits, possibly bowl hearths, and a shallow stone-lined ‘trough’.
When found, it was filled almost entirely with wood charcoal.
Perhaps it was used as an ‘ash pit’, where the fuel for the
furnace could be kept hot overnight.

Subsequently, the workshop was sub-divided by a stone-
founded wall running north-south. A layer of stoney clay was
laid down, possibly as a rough working surface. During this
period, the iron working appeared to be centred on an area of
flat Pennant sandstone slabs. The function of this feature is still
uncertain, possibly, it formed the base of a forge or hearth used
in the smithing process.

This marked the final phase of iron working, The workshop,
and probably the associated buildings which lay beyond the
area available for excavation, were demolished, It is uncertain

when this occurred, but it may have been during the latter part
of the 14th century,

The tenement to the north, previously open, had by now been
developed. Low stone walls, with wide but shallow foundations,
may have supported a timber, or cob super-structure (Structure
2). The construction technique was probably fairly unsophisti-
cated, and may have been typical of artisans’ dwellings during
the medieval period. A baking oven was found to the rear of
the building, Structure 1 had been demolished to make way for
Structure 2, Rubble foundations in the north-west corner of the
site may mark the rear of a succeeding building, perhaps
contemporary with Structure 2.

The tenement at the southern end of the site, at the junction
of Redcliff Street and Portwall Lane, was open for much of the
medieval period. It was separated from the neighbouring tenement
by a stone wall, most of which had been removed. A fairly sub-
stantial stone wall, running north-south, was found beside the
eastern limit of the excavation. It.represents the western side
wall of a building (Structure 3) of late 12th or early 13th century
date, which lay to the east of the site, fronting on to Portwall
Lane, There were few signs of structures in the area to the west
of Structure 3, but a rectangular stone feature and quantities
of iron slag closely associated may indicate that further iron
working was being carried on here,

|
|
|
!

Later,perhaps in the late 13th century, a furnace was constructed.

All that remained were the holes which would have accommodated

the supporting stakes, and layers of hard burnt clay which are
probably the remains of the superstructure, Contemporary with
the furnace was a shallow bowl-shaped feature, lined with lead
and plaster. It is still not clear what these features were used for,
but underlying both was a very hard layer of clay and charcoal,
From it came large quantities of fired clay moulds which may
have been used in the bell-making process. Numerous tiny
fragments of bronze from this layer tend to add weight to this
theory.

During the 14th century, this area was built on for the first
time, Structure 3 was incorporated into a long building facing on
to Redcliff Street (Structure 4). It had at least three rooms, with
a small oven in the front room and a central hearth in the middle
room, Its walls were plastered internally, and each room was
reached via a side passage on the south side leading from
Redcliff Street.

PERIOD II ¢ 1500 - PRESENT

By the 16th century, all the buildings described above had been
demolished, Unfortunately, much of the evidence from this
period had been removed in the course of 19th century construc-
tion, However, the south wall of the building later to become the
‘Old Fox’ was found, It was probably built in the late 15th or
early 16th century, All traces of the north wall of this building
had been removed by its late 19th century successor. Abutting

it on the south’ side was a long wall built of flat Pennant sand-
stone slabs, It formed the back wall of a building which lay

" largely to the west of the excavation, It is interesting to note that

this wall crossed 4 former property boundary, and shows that
two separate tenements had now been amalgamated, although still
let separately,

This: remained the picture until the late 18th or early 19th
century when a further building was constructed at the northern
end of the site, Little of the building itself was found, but a large
rectangular pit and associated stone flagged surface were probably
used in the copper works documented from the early 19th
century.
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DISCOVERY OF A POSSIBLE TIDE MILL
AT KINGSTON SEYMOUR

Jane Evans

In early 1982, whilst Wessex Water Authority was working on
various improvements to the sea wall Qn the coast of south
Avon, they uncovered a number of large worked timbers, The
site was in the parish of Kingston Seymour, at the head of an
outlet to the Congresbury Yeo River (GR 37785-66335) where
anew sluice or clyce was to be installed on a slightly different
alignment from the old one. The engineer realised there was
something strange there when, during sheet piling,the steel
shutters hit solid matter and refused to descend to the required
depth. During the subsequent excavation of the pit for the clyce,
several timbers were torn out whilst others remained crossing the
floor of the 4.3m square pit, These were noticed by Ken Stuckey
of Yew Tree House, who informed Woodspring Museum on

24th February. The writer immediately visited the site and, with

the co-operation of the engineer in charge, endeavoured to make
some record of the remains. By the next day, when the site was
visited by Mike Ponsford and Dr Martin Bell,who coliected
samples, the floor of the pit had become waterlogged and by a day
or so later, a concrete box built inside the pit effectively
prevented further observation.

Although it was evident the timbers belonged to some sort
of man-made structure, it was not clear, at the time, what the
structure was or its age. Too little remained to attempt any
meaningful reconstruction or interpretation, The anticipated
opportunity to investigate further beyond the confines of the
single excavated hole unfortunately did not materialise. In the
event of another similar structure being found elsewhere,
additional information to clarify its precise nature might be gained.
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of the year there would be a steady flow sufficient to drive a
water-wheel, especially if it were ‘ponded back’ during the
period of high tide. Summer flow, however, is fairly limited but
perhaps at high tide a small quantity of salt water was let in to
the ‘guy’ ie that area of dead avater lying between the seawall
sluice and the freshwater sluice (situated 280 mietres up the
main rhyne, just before the confluence of the two tributaries).
After the tide had dropped, this could provide some power for
milling. .

If the tide were the main source of water, it would be
expected to find evidence of a pond or reservoir immediately
behind the sea-wall, After all, it was important that the salt
water should not contaminate the main rhyne systems, Brackish
water, drunk by cattle, can quickly cause their death and
Kingston Seymour was renowned as a rich and therefore,
surely well-managed parish, for many centureis. Perhaps
indeed there was once a pond which was infilled at the time
of the early 17th century seawall improvements, By eye it
is possible to see that the field to the north-west, called
Juttons on the tithe map of 1847, is substantially lower than
Mill Lease. No evidence of embanking is revealed on an air
photograph taken by John White of West Air Photography
on the day after the storms of 13th December 1981 when,
as on many previous occasions, the sea overtopped the seawall
and swept inland, The photograph shows water lying in broad
swathes along the two rhynes, particularly through Ham Farm
and in a meander downstream from the farm,

However, the possibility of a pond cannot be ruled out, as
physical evidence of past features in the levels can disappear
entirely. For example, no sign remains today of the Wowwall,
a bank and ditch erected by the Prior of Worspring and his
tenants including the vicar of Locking, for flood protection

alongside the Grumblepill Rhyne in Worle and Locking, It is
known today only from an early 15th century document in
which are recorded various attacks upon it by tenants of the
land not so protected, ‘

An examination of the 25 inch O.S, map reveals that
the pre-1982 course of the combined Broadstone and Ham
Rhynes does a dog-leg to the north just before it reaches the
sluice at the outlet, This could have acted as a by-pass channel
to the mill at times when water was not required for milling,
and it would be through this sluice and channel that salt water
could be let in at high tide, It is suggested that the actual mill
and water-wheel was situated just to the south of the pre-
1982 sluice, in fact, at the precise spot where the new (1982)
stuice was installed,

The timbers therefore represent the framework which either
held the water-wheel or the grinding stones. Probably there was
another sluice to the seaward side of the framework to protect
the mill from being ‘washed through’ at high tide. Most of the
Most of the recorded tide-mills are of 18th century date with
water-wheels averaging from 4.5m (16ft) to 6m (20ft) in diameter
and operating both as breast-shot and, as the level of the water
drops, as undershot. At Woodbridge, in Suffolk, there is a 714
acre pond with 1.8m head of water, impounded up to a level
of 3.8m O.D A 14th century watermill excavated at Batsford in
East Sussex had a water-wheel 2.6m in diameter, In very early
water mills the wheel was placed horizontally with direct drive
to a grinding stone lying above, Clack mills of this type can still
be seen in Orkney.

At Kingston Seymour the land today lies well below the level
of high tide, The new seawall rises to provide protection to a
height of +8.4m OD.The inside bottom level of the new outlet
pipe is at +3m OD and the timbers which probably represent
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wealthy villa of Wemberham, lying 2 miles upriver on the banks
of the River Yeo just outside the eastern boundary of the parish,
was perhaps the home of the owner of an estate extending up
and down the valley. Ships bringing in luxury requirements to his
wharf would also export surplus grain from the estate, and a
T-shaped kiln,thought to be for corn-drying, was excavated at
North End Farm, 2 miles to the north, in 1955, In Domesday
“Book the parish appears as quite wealthy with 17 carucates of
arable and 40 acres of pasture. No mill is mentioned. The present
fabric of the church dates mainly from the 15th century. All
building materials had to be brought in to the parish; the Church-
wardens’ ;accounts for the neighbouring parish of Yatton provide
interesting information on 15th century economy, with stone
brought in from Felton and oak variously from Brockley,
Backwell, Tickenham (Limbreach) and Congresbury. Medieval -
sherds have been found around the old manor house. The most
remarkable medieval item from the parish isa stone measure,

It is double-ended, each ‘cup’ holding about 3 pints, with a central
pivot and cable decoration-around the waist, which suggests a date
in the 12th century, This splendid object, given to the old
Weston-super-Mare Museum in 1932 in memory of the local

historian Ernest Baker, is said to have come from Kingston Seymour

Rectory. It is paralleled by examples in France, at Dinan, Quimper
and Le Puy, where they were used for measuring out the propor-
tion of produce, such as corn, which was due to the Lord of the
Manor, The finding of such an object in Kingston Seymour surely
indicates that corn was grown in the parish in medieval times

and it would follow that the Lord of the Manor would take

his due or tithe in return for it being ground at his mill.

The Bulbeck family was the most prominent local family

for several centuries and both medieval and post-medieval
pottery,including imported Saintonge ware of 16th century

date, has been found on the site of their manor house

(GR 403688) just inside Kenn parish,

With the reclamation of the warths in the period 1600 -
1640, more pasture for cattle was provided, implying corn
growing had gone out of fashion, and Billingsley (1791) says
that on the rich marshland near the Bristol Channel the grazing
system prevailed, According to port book records, in 1666
alone more than 1160 cattle were brought across from Sully
in South Wales to Uphill by three ships each of 20 tons making
a total of 34 trips. Most of the shipments were in May and June
to allow for fattening on the summer pastures before being
driven to market in Bristol. Collinson (1791), however,
differs and describes the village thus: A small straggling place

consisting of 42 houses and 250 inhabitants, The lands are .
mostly arable and very rich, being worth on average 35 shillings
an ‘acre throughout the parish. There is little wood and elm the
principal, There are many large orchards, The many splendid
barns associated with the farms have been subject to recent
study by Ken Stuckey who believes they date to the late 18th
century, many being built when, at the time of the Napoleonic
Wars, there was an increase in the growing of grain crops.

On the tithe map (1847), there are 127 acres of arable, nearly
5% of the total, Oats were the dominant crop followed by
barley, then wheat. In the First World War, farmers were
directed to plough up 10% of their land and even more in the

- Second World War , when mainly wheat and oats were grown.
The evidence shows it is certainly possible to use the land for
grain, provided that cultivation does not commence very early
in the spring.
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SUMMARY

To summarise: without further excavation, not now practicable
as Wessex Water has completed its current programme of
alterations, it is not possible to identify the structure precisely.
Documentary research might help in providing a date which
dendrochronology has failed to supply so far. The local name
of Mill Lease is the strongest evidence for the presence here

of a water mill operated in association with the tides and it is
suggested this would date to somewhere within the period

12th to 16th century, The mill was in disuse by the time the
early 17th century reclamation of warths took place outside
the seawall, During these improvements the mill was dismantled
and the wheel-pit filled in to make good the seawall, leaving

an outlet for the thyne system along the bypass channel. The
1982 improvements reinstated the rhyne to the original, or
earlier, line of the outlet.

Acknowledgements are due to the following:- Lester Durston
and the men of Wessex Water for allowing access, Ken Stuckey
for much help with local lore and documentary research,

Keith Gardner, Mike Ponsford and Martin Bell for visiting the
site and discussing its possible function, Pam Kostyla for drawing
my attention to the inscribed stone (now on loan to Wood-
spring Museum), Graham Morgan for identifying the wood,

John White of West Air for air photographs of the area under
floods (nos, 34138, 34140), John Clark of the Museum of London
for parallels to the Kingston Seymour stone tithe measure, Vic
Hallett for the Oldbury reference, Stan Rendell for reference to
the Uphill Mill and Sharon Poole for noticing a watermill at
Uphill on the Greenwood map.
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Photographs, drawings and a more detailed description of
No. 10 are held by the City of Bristol Museum and Art Gallery
(Accession No, BRSMG 148/1980). A full report will be published
in due course, The writer would like to thank all those who gave
advice during the recording of the house, and especially George
Ferguson of Ferguson Mann, for permitting access.

RETENTION AND RESTORATION

Once, long before St. Michael’s Hill and Christmas Steps were
designated a Conservation Area, but for the most part within

living memory, the area near the parish church boasted a number
of fine 17th century stone buildings. These had emerged from,

or merged with, the expansion of the walled city at a period when
Bristol was first in the land after London. Included in this

loose domestic group we may list The Red Lodge {1589), The
White Lodge (16th c, dem, RW 1874-66 pl 27D & Braikenridge
Collection), The King David Inn (17th century . dem & rebuilt as
ahotel 1893, RW 1880’s pl 165, 166 & 1845-1900 forthcoming),
The Manor House (17th century burnt 1979 , presently ruinous,
RW 1960-62 pl 52), a house in Tankard’s Close (17th century dem.
1960, RW 1928-33 pl 107), a house in Upper Wells Street (17th or
16th century dem 1961, RW 1960-62 pl 55, 56, 1956-59 pl 23,
124, 1866-60 pls 44-50), the former rectory in Lower Church
Lane (17th century kitchen, remainder remodelled by Paty ¢ 1775,
altered 1981), several other unidentified triple gabled houses

in Park Row and 10 Lower Park Row.,

The character of these buildings is best seen in a-painting some-
time attributed to Peter Monaman, now ascribed ‘Anon’ ¢ 1728-
30, in the City Art Gallery. It includes a backdrop panorama of
the hillside painted from an upper storey in Thunderbolt Street
(site of Broad Quay House) and almost certainly shows No 10
where it should appear, above the Great House. However a four

storey single gabled addition stands against the south-east elevation,

The main house appears to have two gables. These substantial
17th century stone built houses command our attention for the
way in which the English understanding of Renaissance design was
impinging on an earlier more indigenous architecture,

It was inconceivable to the writer that anyone should wish to
demolish this house in the late 1970, notwithstanding the
treatment of historic buildings in Bristol over the preceding 30
years (outside this group, but within the same geographic context,
in St, James’s parish, another 17th ¢ house is in jeopardy of
demolition). But in April 1979, without a survey being made, a
demolition application was lodged, contrary to the planning and
listed building policies of conservation areas, Accordingly a rep-
resentation was made (2) for the retention of the house, suggesting
the philosophy of repair of the Society for the Protection of
Ancient Buildings (SPAB). Some local conservation groups gave
the idea short shift, but to their merit the Planning Committee
upheld.the view that here was a singular and largely intact 17th
century house on a hillside which was reparable once a means
of access to the backland had been found, Consent for demolition
was refused and the house was reassessed Grade II* and
generously grant aided for repair by the Historic Buildings
Council.

A suggestion for further improving access to the rear to scotch
calls for demolition from emergency services was promptly taken
up for development gain using the argument that the continuity
of the street should prevail, notwithstanding the house was
originally designed to stand upright on an open hillside. So the
open view of the north-east elevation (John Bryant’s ‘east’)
will soon be masked, Objections to this proposal only circum-

vented the proposal to build across the historic east squints.

An alternative treatment for the interior to save the intact 17th
century kitchen, the integrity of the plan and items of original
fabric, based on the ethic of maximum repair and minimum
alteration, was dismissed, Finally after further representations
by SPAB concerning the detailed treatment, listed building
consent was granted for a ‘restoration’ scheme of conversion
to flats, During the works the original floor beams and joists
were stripped out, Georgian panelling in: the shop removed, one
band of weatherings replaced where there had been two,
emphasising the upper part of the house, a new roof set to too
flat a pitch with replacement chimney stacks of dressed Bath
stone instead of rendered rubble and the building limewashed
creating busy wall surfaces where the physics of the masonry
walls required a lime plaster the texture of rag paper.

The house was arranged on three floors with a further floor
carried into the hillside at the north-west end. Small window
-shafts once lit this lowest room, but these had been covered
when the approach path was raised, detracting from the room
and causing rotting of the floor joist ends. The entrance front
faced south-west, five bays wide with a central door, From
the entrance door a stair once arose around a generous stair-
hall, The side walls of this, plastered at the time of survey and
carrying joists, formed the internal partition walls of the
principle rooms to the left and right of the stairs, A further
partition, unmoved plastered and intact, formed the back wall
of the stairhall, This formed a closet reached from each of the
principle rooms, This then was a regular and compact house-
plan that had been selected for the site, without being
entirely original in conception. At any rate, in a terraced
configuration entered on the short side the plan came to be

‘used in later Bristol Georgian house plans.

The principle rooms were particularly well lit from a pair of
cross mullion and transom windows moulded ovolo inside
and out in stone. The kitchen, at the lowest level, faced
south-east down the hillside garden, The space between
the remaining stone jambs behind the later sash boxes on the
south-east elevation showed that the kitchen at least had had
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AVON ARCHAEOLOGY 1982
Rob Iles

A great deal of excavation was carried out in Avon during 1982.
Major excavations took place in Bristol (Redcliff), Bath (Roman
Baths) and Marshfield (iron age and Roman settlement). Further
evidence of the ubiquitous Romans was salvaged from levelling
activities on three Bristol school playing fields (Filwood,
Henbury and Lawrence Weston).

BAARG produced folder guides for prehistoric and Roman
sites on the Mendips and published Parish Surveys for Flax
Bourton, Bathford and Queen Charlton together in a single
booklet. A very detailed parish survey for Marshfield, directed
by Vince Russett for Avon Planning Department, was started in
1982 and should be completed in 1984. Future retrieval of
archaeological information for a particular site type or areas
in Avon should be considerably helped by current work on
- computerising the Sites and Monuments Record in Avon
Planning Department,.
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DOWN: Earthworks

Conservation work is in progress or recently finished on two
sites owned by District Councils. Jane Evans of Woodspring
Museum has drawn up a management jplan for Worlebury Hillfort, .
Weston. Work at Barr’s Court Moat, Kingswood, included an
information board with a dedication to former BAARG member
Molly Ashley, Preliminary management plans are now being
drawn up for the remarkable historical palimpsest on Dolebury
Warren, recently acquired by the National Trust.

PREHISTORIC

BATHAMPTON, Bathampton Down

A dissertation on the extensive earthworks on Bathampton Down
was undertaken by C Stephens. A plan was made of the earth-
works (Fig 1), based mainly on air photographs in Avon Sites
and Monuments Record. A geophysical survey was also carried
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holding in the 17th century, when there were many more small
farms than exist today.

BATH, Roman Baths
See reports on medieval finds under Roman section.

BRISTOL. Canons Marsh

E Boore reports that a collection of pottery, in a box marked
‘Canons marsh’, has been discovered in Bristol Cathedral. It is
believed to have been found earlier this century during road-
works. The pottery dates from 13th - 16th centuries and includes
local wares (Ham Green, Redcliff and Minety) and more exotic
pieces (medieval Saintonage ware, 16th century Spanish floor
tile and German Bellarmine jugs). This group, although un-
stratified, does suggest the potential of the Canons Marsh area
and is important in the light of future development.

BRISTOL, Dundas Wharf, ST590727

Excavation by G L Good for Bristol City Museum was begun in
April 1982 and will continue till September 1983 as a part of a
project to study the development of the Bristol suburb of
Redcliffe. The site is located between Redcliff Street and the
Floating Harbour (formerly the River Avon) and covers three
tenements (nos 127-129) in Redcliff Street, though only one of
these (no 128) can be excavated to the street frontage. So far
it has been shown that the River Avon was considerably wider
in the medieval period thani it is at present, Encroachmen.. has
been gradual since the 14th century with owners individually
extending their properties outwards into the river, Although
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Fig5  Survey of Glebe Farm remains, Backwell

Fig4  Site of Glebe Farm, Downside, Backwell

most of these extensions were stone-built, some timber
structures have been exposed. A narrow cobbled lane extending
to the riverside, referred to in documents as the ‘Common
Slype’, separated nos. 128 and 129, This was arched over and
buildings extended above it in the 16th century. There is a
separate report on the rich environmental deposits.

BRISTOL, Old Market, ST59577319

A watching brief by J Bryant for Bristol City Museum on the
site of the Kings Cinema and former Baptist burial ground
produced only a scatter of post-medieval features,

BRISTOL, 68-72 Redcliff Street, ST59117245
See interim excavation report by R H Jones.

BRISTOL, 74-78 Redcliff Street, ST59117242

J Bryant excavated a section of the back-filled ditch outside the
line of the 13th century Portwall for Bristol City Museum.

The original cutting was 15 m wide and more than 5 m deep;
excavation failed to locate the ditch bottom, Several medieval
recuttings were evident as was a Civil War recut, 12 m wide and
4.5m deep, The latter was irregular in shape, suggesting a

“hasty excavation, Late in the 17th century the ditch was

infilled and then built over in the following century. The results
are similar to those found by Hebditch in 1965, some 80 m to the
east (Trans Bristol Gloucestershire Archaeol Soc, 87, 131-43).
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Air Photo Interpretation for Archaeologists by D R Wilson,
B T Batsford Ltd London. 1982, 212pp, 121 illus. £9.95

This is probably the first definitive study of the subject in the
English Language. The author, as Curator in Aerial Photography
at Cambridge University, with 17 years’ experience behind him,

_is highly qualified for the task, The book is concerned mainly

with the British Isles but is largely applicable elsewhere.

The Preface states that ‘until now there hasrbeen no handbook
to guide those working on their own’, True enough; but CBA
Group XIII issued a 4-page Guide to Air-photographic Archaeology
in the South West in 1961; a'pamphlet on Air Photographs for
Smail Expeditions (Geog J 1973 311-322) is available (50p) from
the Royal Geographical Society; and there may well be other
relevant publications lurking around.

Chapter 1, air photography and archaeology, opens with a
short history of the subject, illustrated by classics including Stone-
henge from a balloon 1906 (pl.1) and the aerial view of Woodhenge
by S/Ldr Insall 1926 (pl.2). (This reviewer had the pleasure of
meeting Insall’s son, then a boy at Marlborough College, when
lecturing there in 1950). It closes by noting repositories where
air photographs can be consulted, To these may be added the
collection of air photos taken during the 1939 - 45 War (Depart-
ment of Geography, Keele University), and collections held by
the National Patk authorities (certainly Exmoor, at Dulverton,

In Chapter 2, the nature of the evidence, the author gets to
the root of the subject with a penetrating analysis of the reasons
why archaeological features often show so clearly from the air:
light and shadow revealing three-dimensional sites; soil-marks
showing many others; and in particular crop-marks, in which
he discusses the archaeological potentials of the different types
of crop and their growing seasons; soils; and a great deal more.

The utility of light snowfalls in revealing archaeological details
e.g. Roman roads and field systems, is not forgotten. He
quotes (68) a Roman site at Ytham Wells (Aberdeenshire),
expertly photographed from the air at a suitable season for
23 consecutive years, before the slender ditch of a second
camp produced crop-marks which enabled it to be recorded.

Chapter 3 covers the identification of specific types of site .

His analysis of the criteria for trying to distinguish between the
ring-ditches of ploughed-down barrows and those of circular
huts and houses is particularly useful to this reviewer; others
would select from this chapter according to their interests,

Chapter 4, identification of non-archaeological features,
is essential reading for all, It includes the relics of recreational
usage and the manifestations of agriculture (note the ‘henges’
or large‘barrows’produced by the use of rotary sprinklers, pl 103).
Confusing geological features are illustrated by the ‘multivallate
hillfort’ at Upper Coscombe east of Winchcombe (pl 87), caused
by the differential erosion of oolitic strata of varying composition.
Some paragraphs on the relics of the 1914-19 and 1939-45 Wars
would seem to be classed as military archaeology rather than non-
archaeology, Examples given include emplacements for searchlights
and guns (pl 111). To these we could add the decoy-mounds on
Blackdown, Mendip (ProcUBSS 11, 44-5), erected 1939 - 45 for
some kind of defence purpose, and ‘disc-barrow’ Upavon 1b in
V € H Wiltshire, i., now known to have been the Target Circle for
Upavon Aerodrome ¢ 1920.

Chapter 5, on interpretation, stresses that an interpreter can no
more be without his magnifying glass than a digger without his
trowel, On stereoscopic examination we might have been told
where a stereoscope can be purchased (C F Casella London Ltd,
109 Britannia Walk, London N1, price from £3.50 (pocket folding

type with plastic lenses) upwards to £240 for the most developed
mirror type). For the benefit of those functioning on a financial
shoestring it can be added that the pocket folding stereoscope can |
be applied to successive prints whose identical images are too far
apart to achieve the third dimension, by ‘losing’ the unwanted
parts of the prints down the central slot of a slotted wooden table
which any carpenter can make in a few minutes,
Throughout this book the juxtaposition of air photos of the
same site taken under different conditions brings home the need
to consult the whole of the available air cover. Finally one cannot
overstate the need to ground-check the air photographic evidence,
wherever possible under similar conditions of season and crop, for
which purpose the relevant air photos should themselves be taken
into the field (186), inserted in waterproof transparent envelopes.
The Bibliography is set in type so small as to induce the
interpreter to reach for his magnifying glass if not his microscope. *
LESLIE GRINSELL

The Megalithic Chambered Tombs of the Cotswold-Severn
Region, by T C Darvill, Vorda Publications, Highworth, Wilts,
1982, A4, 149 + vii pp. £9.95 post free.

Derivation of the laterally chambered (false or blind entrance type)
from the terminally chambered (true entrance type) long barrow
was implicit in the classification by Thurnam (1869), typified by

(i) Stoney Littleton (true entrance with passage and side-chambers);’
(ii) Rodmarton (false entrance with opposed lateral chambers); and
(iii) Littleton Drew (false entrance with cists). The false entrance
appeared so obviously to be a skeuomorph of the true entrance.
This view was reaffirmed by Crawford (1922, 1925) and has been
followed without question by almost all authorities until now,

The central thesis of this book, which largely incorporates the
writer’s B A thesis on Concealment and Constriction in the Cotswol
-Severn Long Barrow Group (1979), is an attempt to show that the
‘false‘entrance’ of the laterally chambered barrows was derived
from the portal dolmen and that barrows of this type may there-
fore be earlier than those with true entrance leading to either a
terminal chamber or a passage with side-chambers. In support of
his thesis-he invokes the grave-goods (especially the pottery), the
very few available C14 dates., and various kinds of circumstantial
evidence, The author has not attempted to ‘regurgitate all the
known facts about Severn-Cotswold tombs’ (p.14), and his survey
is limited to a consideration of some 45 examples which provide
the necessary evidence of typology and chronology. He has little
to say on the residue of some 130 other examples. As he does not
give the national grid references of those which he discusses, his
book has to be used in conjucntion with other publications. -

It is of course splendid that an archaeologist from a University
(Southampton) noted for its avant-garde archaeological teaching,
should critically examine a concept which has held the field for
so long, However, most of the book was written five years ago
and although updated here and there to 1981, it might have been
preferable to have totally revised it, Four of the five maps are
dated 1978, Minor errors of punctuation, awkward phrasing, mis-
spellings etc., occur about one per page. With certain exceptions
(e g distributed for disturbed, p 59 last paragraph; restrictions for
constrictions, p 72 second paragraph), these are trivial and do not
affect the sense, Most of these short-comings could have been
avoided by consulting Collins’ Authors and Printers Dictionary
or a similar book, A statement of a fresh view is however more
likely to convince if well expressed in simple language, The reading
of this text is not helped (at least for older readers) by the
author’s use of ‘new archaeology’ jargon and words derived from
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the social sciences. A man-made post-hole has to be anthropogenic
(p 52); a chronological sequence to be diachronic (pp 6, 14, 17);
material in the filling of chambers is either artifactual or
ecofactual or both (p 56) - It is however on this reviewer’s
conscience that he was almost as bad himself when his first paper
. was published (Grinsell 1929). Perhaps the strangest detail is the
author’s use of dolmen as a plural as well as a singular noun in
much of his text (pp 8 top, 19 twice, 28, 49, 54, 59, 66, 68).
The author may or may not have shown that by separating long
" barrows into ‘territories’ by Thiessen polygons (Fig 15, p 81) it is
possible to reconstruct a pattern of segmentary social groups into
which neolithic society may have been divided, One wonders what
conclusions might result if modern cemeteries were treated
similarly in order to reconstruct the social structure of our own
times, We are perhaps entitled to ask whether we are not trying
,-10 extract from the distribution of the varjous types of chambered
-* tomb more information thanthey are capable of yielding, None the .
less, all luck to the effort! , .
3 To conclude: this book will serve a useful purpose if it sets us
thinking, and that it will undoubtedly do.
LV GRINSELL
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